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Paul Tucker Trecento «Characteristic», 
Trecento «Grotesque»: 
Frederic Burton, Charles Fairfax 
Murray and Early Sienese Painting 
in the National Gallery

Among the purchases made by the Director of the National Gallery, Frederic 
Burton, during his official journey to Italy in the autumn of 1881 was a panel ac-
quired in Florence, described in his report to the Gallery’s Trustees as

a small early Sienese picture in good condition, signed by Niccolò Buonac-
corso [fig. 1], a master whose works are otherwise unidentified, but of whom 
some notices are given by Gaetano Milanesi in his «Documenti per la Storia 
dell'Arte Senese»1.

Stressing its value for the Gallery as a «signed work and a characteristic specimen 
of trecento Sienese Art», Burton justified the panel’s acquisition for eighty pounds 
and identified the vendor as «Mr. Charles Fairfax Murray [fig. 2], an admirable con-
noisseur, who constantly keeps me informed as to the whereabouts of pictures on 
sale or likely to come into the market»2. 

The episode is emblematic of a personal and professional relationship connot-
ing Burton’s entire directorship (1874-94), if more intensive during its first dec-
ade. It is a relationship of particular interest here. For both its positive achieve-
ments and its setbacks throw light on a decisive late phase in the reception of 
early Sienese painting and of the Trecento generally, one however little explored 
by historians of that reception. Indeed, it is not so much as touched on in the 
influential but chronologically and ideologically limited account of the fortuna 

This paper examines the efforts made under Frederic Burton (1816-1900), its director from 1874 to 1894, 
to see trecento painting properly represented in the collection of the National Gallery in London. With par-
ticular regard to the then still undervalued Sienese school, it investigates the important role played in this 
process by the painter, connoisseur and dealer, Charles Fairfax Murray (1849-1919). The history of his not 
unproblematic personal and professional relationship with Burton sheds light on a decisive but little ex-
plored late phase in the reception of early Sienese painting.
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of Italian «Primitives» offered fifty years ago by Giovanni Previtali3, in which he 
disputed the received importance in this context of extra-Italian Romantic histo-
riography and criticism, championing rather a native tradition of scholarly investi-
gation stretching back to the time of Vasari and beyond. Certainly, in its climactic 
late eighteenth-century development that tradition led to proclamation of the 
autonomy and anteriority of the school of Siena with respect to the Florentine4. 
Yet even as historical knowledge of the school increased, Sienese painting re-
mained aesthetically opaque. As subsequently stated by Robert Langton Doug-
las (himself a key actor in the process), it was not until the next turn-of-century 
that a «complete change» in the opinions of critics and collectors transformed 
the long «misunderstood and undervalued» art of Siena into something «fashion-
able»5. What this change consisted in, and how it related to the school’s appeal for 
early nineteenth-century enthusiasts of «Christian art» and to subsequent broad 
shifts in taste, Douglas did not venture to say. Yet perhaps his own remarks in the  
catalogue to the London Burlington Fine Arts Club’s epoch-marking Sienese ex-
hibition of 1904 may be taken as an example of a mode of aesthetic appraisal of 
the school more consonant with its specific qualities than the previously prev-
alent naturalist mode, ultimately deriving from and perpetuating the hegemo-
ny of Florentine disegno. In characterizing the art of Siena Douglas routinely in-
voked religious sentiment but also, and more concretely, «an effect of hieratic  
sumptuousness», a disdain for «feats of modelling», «subtle effects of graceful 
line, bright, pure colour, and an exquisitely scrupulous technique»6. 

The comparatively sustained acquisition under Burton of trecento panels – all 
Sienese or then thought such – and the stimulus and assistance afforded him, 
not unproblematically as we shall see, by Murray provide some insight into the 
gradual emergence of this new mode of appraisal, showing how the partial fail-
ure of their collaborative promotion of early Sienese painting had crucially to 
do with their unequal «sympathy» (Murray’s own term7) with the school. It also 
suggests that Previtali’s differentiation of native and non-native reception of ear-
ly Italian art in terms of the causal ordering of taste/collecting and scholarship/ 
knowledge8 is artificially imposed upon a situation of inextricable interdepend-
ence. Unfortunately, in Murray’s case there is little explicit record of how marked 
sympathy with the school translated into actual aesthetic appraisal. It seems 
however to have sharpened his commercial acumen and also invigorated his 
commitment to the historicist rationale informing the national collection and his 
general belief in the documentary function of public collections. And it earned 
him an important, if little visible and still hardly acknowledged, role in the late 
nineteenth-century international «rediscovery» of early Sienese painting.
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Burton’s efforts to see trecento painting properly represented in Trafalgar 
Square were not without precedent. In accordance with the recommendations 
of the Select Committees of 1835/6 and 1853 and of the Treasury Minute of 1855, 
which reconstituted the National Gallery and motivated his appointment that 
same year as its first Director, Charles Eastlake had set out to form, «by means of a 
chronological series of works by early masters, an historical foundation for a com-
plete gallery of pictures»9. The new Director’s first purchases were of paintings 
ascribed to Botticelli and Cosimo Rosselli10, revealing his preference among «early 
masters» for those of fifteenth-century Florence11. In the spring of 1856, howev-
er, the collection acquired its first correctly dated painting of the Trecento12, one 
 significantly ascribed to Giotto, the founding father of the Florentine school. 

Around the same time Eastlake proposed the purchase en bloc of the  
historically organized collection assembled in Florence by Francesco Lombardi 
and Ugo Baldi, earlier negotiations for which had stalled on account of the own-
ers’ refusal to break it up13. An agreement was reached in 1857 and the Gallery 
thus acquired a select group of paintings from this collection, eight of which were 
considered to date from the Trecento14. As Eastlake himself stressed, the selec-
tion included «all the most historically valuable pictures»15. Indeed, it was clearly 
meant to supplement the recently acquired «Giotto» by illustrating this painter’s 
Vasarian genealogy: a work given to his master Cimabue16 was accompanied by 
others      ascribed to a representative of the superseded alla greca style, Margar-
itone17, to Giotto’s pupil Taddeo Gaddi18, to Taddeo’s pupil Jacopo di Casentino19 
and to Jacopo’s pupil Spinello Aretino20, as well as to Taddeo’s contemporary, An-
drea Orcagna21. In addition, the Gallery acquired a minimal Sienese series, consist-
ing of a painting by the acknowledged patriarch of this school, Duccio di Buon-
insegna22, and another by Segna di Bonaventura23, traditionally considered his 
master, though probably, as Gaetano Milanesi would later point out24, his pupil.

No other specimens of trecento painting were purchased by Eastlake in the 
remaining eight and a half years of his directorship. This is probably explained 
by the fact that he disapproved of the «rage for very early works of art», which 
he thought «full of affectation and grimace», holding that «many persons who 
have, or fancy they have, a taste for those pictures, are insensible to the essential 
elements of painting, such as beauty of arrangement, harmony of colouring, and 
natural action and expression»25. Nor did he nurture any particular interest in the 
Sienese school as such. As editor of the English edition of Franz Kugler’s Hand- 
buch der Kunstgeschichte Eastlake had questioned the author’s commendation of 
Duccio’s «spirit of invention» and «power of individualizing»26. And in his notes 
to the Plan for a Collection of Paintings, illustrative of the History of Art proposed 
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by Prince Albert he recognized the marked «religious tendency» and «devotional 
fervour of expression» shown by the early Sienese and Umbrian painters but crit-
icized their failure to exhibit

that variety of form and study of nature which are conspicuous in the Flor-
entines generally [...] With the Sienese, the prevailing tendency of feeling 
referred to involved a certain limitation in the forms and in the character of 
the heads.27

It is perhaps not surprising then that in 1859 Eastlake should have informed 
the newly appointed Chancellor of the Exchequer, William Gladstone, that the 
National Gallery’s need for early Italian paintings, especially of the Florentine and 
Sienese Schools (signficantly treated as one), had been «in a great measure sup-
plied»28. And yet at this date the entire Sienese school was there represented by 
only four works: the two paintings from the Lombardi-Baldi collection, a drawing 
by Baldassare Peruzzi presented in 183929 and a Virgin and Child then ascribed to 
Pacchiarotto and acquired in 185430. And this was still the situation at the time of 
Burton’s appointment in 1874, when the collection numbered just under a thou-
sand paintings, of which around two hundred and sixty were Italian and fifty-five 
Florentine31. 

In the twenty years of Burton’s directorship, nine trecento panels entered the 
collection, all, as remarked above, Sienese or then thought such32. In addition, 
Burton acquired six Sienese paintings of the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries33. 
Thus, at the time of his retirement in 1894 the Gallery held a total of nineteen 
Sienese paintings (in a collection however now numbering just under one and a 
half thousand). Five of the trecento panels34 and two of the later paintings35 came 
to the collection from or through Murray. Who, then, was this «admirable connois-
seur»? How did he come to possess such a keen interest in early Sienese painting 
and to have dealings with Frederic Burton and the National Gallery?

It was in the spring of 1873 and in the company of Edward Burne-Jones, his 
«master in painting»36 and himself an admirer of the early Sienese school, that 
Murray first visited Siena and began exploring the «old pictures» there37. Murray 
was en route for Rome, where he was to copy the Botticelli frescoes in the Sistine 
Chapel with and for John Ruskin38. Ruskin’s long-deferred arrival allowed Murray 
to prolong his stay in Tuscany and to cultivate an already informed and critical    
interest in the early history of Italian painting39. After Burne-Jones’ departure, 
Murray remained in the city, his study of the Sienese school focusing first on the 
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work of Ambrogio Lorenzetti. Having drawn a predella representing the Lamenta-
tion over the Body of Christ in the Istituto di Belle Arti40, Murray moved to the Palaz-
zo Pubblico and proposed to Ruskin he should make a copy of Ambrogio’s «great 
fresco of “Peace” [the Allegory of Good Government]»41. There thus began what a 
decade later he would describe to Julius Meyer, Director of the Gemäldegalerie in 
Berlin, as «a special study» of the works of Ambrogio and his brother Pietro, in the 
course of which he «copied or had photographed every known work of theirs»42. 

Following his marriage two years later to the Tuscan Angelica Colivicchi Murray 
settled in Siena, residing there (intermittently) until the couple moved to Florence 
in 1878. Contemporary evidence of his systematic study in and around the city of 
the painting of the Lorenzetti and of early Sienese painting in general is found in 
his diaries and correspondence; in the photographs he had Ruskin commission or 
himself commissioned from the Sienese photographer Paolo Lombardi, among 
them the first known images (fig. 3), taken in 1874, of the school’s Hauptwerk, 
Duccio's Maestà43; and, especially, in two vellum-bound sketchbooks44 contain-
ing drawings (figs 4, 5) of trecento and quattrocento panels in local churches 
and collections. Chief among the latter were the gallery of the Istituto di Belle 
Arti45 (the 1872 edition of whose catalogue is interleaved with the pages of one 
of the sketchbooks) and the Archivio di Stato, where Murray catalogued, cop-
ied and even restored the recently reassembled series of small painted panels  
commissioned by medieval civic offices and institutions such as the Biccherna 
(the treasury) and Gabella (the tax office) as covers for their documents46. In Sep-
tember 1878, shortly before leaving Siena for Florence, he was able to enhance 
the docu-mentary value of this series through the sale for 200 francs to the Mu-
nicipality of Siena of two Biccherna panels47. The episode attests to his early in-
volvement in the local art market48 and sets a pattern to which much of his later 
commercial activity conformed, whereby monetary motives were balanced by, or 
often subordinated to, more scholarly considerations. 

An occasional companion in these early studies of Sienese painting appears 
to have been Murray’s near-contemporary, the German art theorist and historian 
Robert Vischer (1847-1933)49, then preparing a series of articles on Sienese art 
published in the course of 1875 in the «Zeitschrift für bildende Kunst». Murray’s 
diaries for 1874 and 1875 and two surviving letters of the same period record 
exchanges of information and opinion as well as shared visits to churches and 
galleries when the German was in Siena50. In June 1874 Murray had Lombardi 
photograph drawings of his own to send to Vischer51. These must have been the 
outline studies (figs 6-10) of the centre panels of Pietro Lorenzetti’s dismembered 
Carmine and St Sabinus altarpieces52 found in one of the two sketchbooks cited 
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above53, wood engravings (figs 11-13) of which illustrated the third of Vischer’s 
«Sienesische Studien»54. 

Murray’s study of early Sienese painting, and of that of the Lorenzetti brothers 
in particular, continued after his removal to Florence in 1878. An important group 
of unpublished letters (1878-79) addressed to the art historian Giovan Battista 
Cavalcaselle55, whose New History of Italian Painting (1864-66), co-authored with 
J.A. Crowe, was Murray’s principal guide in his researches and whom he had met 
in Rome in the winter of 1874-7556, propose numerous revisions to the New His-
tory's account of the work of the Lorenzetti, including several new attributions of 
Murray’s own. These entered the literature via Cavalcaselle's revised Italian edition 
of the New History (Storia della pittura italiana, 1883-1908)57 and the fifth edition 
(1884) of Jakob Burckhardt’s Der Cicerone, edited by Wilhelm Bode, who entrusted 
Murray with the task of revising the section devoted to the early Sienese school58. 

Murray had first met Burton during the winter of 1866-67: on the recommen-
dation of Dante Gabriel Rossetti the Irish watercolourist had commissioned      
Burne Jones’ newly acquired studio assistant to make a «drawing on wood» for an 
unidentified Society59. They met again in Siena in September 1875, a little more 
than a year after Burton’s appointment as Director of the National Gallery. Murray 
probably brought low expectations to the encounter: a recent visit to Trafalgar 
Square to see the «new pictures»60 and contrasting fresh report of the ambitious 
acquisitions campaign inaugurated by the Berlin Gemäldegalerie in 1872-7361 
seem to have fuelled some harsh criticism of the National Gallery’s Directors as 
a class expressed in a letter to Vischer written earlier that summer. Torn between 
disappointed patriotism and disinterested elation at the prospect of a systemat- 
ically assembled public collection of historical painting, Murray had confessed to 
Vischer the wish he too were German, that he might thoroughly enjoy the news 
of Berlin’s latest purchases. He went on to deplore his own countrymen’s and gov-
ernment’s indifference to historical art:

Abbiamo noi pochi conoscenti o per dir peggio pochi curanti delle Belle 
arti[. N]on sarebbe nulla di male se non vi fosse pochi intendenti ma amanti 
ci vuole – e in questi ultimi giorni mi pare a me miei compatrioti sono matti 
sopra quadri moderni – bell’è passato è il tempo quando quei signore [sic] 
offrivano loro quadri alla nazione per fare una bella collezione pubblica e il 
governo non si cura nemmeno[.] Il posto di Curatore della Galleria è dato ad 
uomini più o meno incompetenti o per ignoranza o per timidità comprano 
quadri che non sono degni di posti nella Galleria fino ad ora conosciuto per 
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la bellezza degli esemplari esposti e loro perfetta conservazione. Fra gli ulti-
mi quadri che ho veduto era uno di Signorelli[:] basta di far arrizzare cappel-
li[.] [E]ra di lui forse ma non è [.]62

Renewed personal acquaintance, on a different footing, seems to have in-
duced Murray to revise his opinion of Burton. Within three months they would 
be «going over the [National] Gallery [...] together» and Murray would be shown 
«several new pictures not yet hung»63. In Siena he must have been excited by the 
Director’s evident interest in Sienese painting. Murray’s diary records five separate 
meetings with Burton in the course of two days, including time spent together at 
«the Academy», i.e. the gallery of the Istituto di Belle Arti, and at Lombardi’s, as 
well as a visit to Murray’s home «to see pictures»64. These would no doubt have 
included Murray’s own work, but Burton must also have been shown the dozen 
or so paintings, mainly early Sienese, which Murray had by now acquired, and in 
particular a recent addition to the collection of which he was especially proud, a 
small panel he attributed to Pietro Lorenzetti (fig. 14), bought the previous sum-
mer65. On his return to London the following month Burton urged Murray not 
to part with this panel without first alerting him. Nearly two years later Murray 
practised what he had preached to Vischer and presented it to the Gallery66. He 
was the first to suggest it had formed part of the predella to the St Sabinus altar-
piece painted by Pietro for the Duomo in Siena. Stated in a letter to Cavalcaselle 
of 1 May 187867, this opinion would be reported in the third volume (1885) of 
Storia della pittura in Italia68. By contrast, no echo of Murray’s suggestion found 
its way into the 1889 edition of the National Gallery’s catalogue, where the panel 
retained the generic title (A Legendary Subject) given it when its acquistion was 
first officially registered69. 

Within weeks of his presenting the panel by Pietro, Murray notified Burton 
of the probably imminent sale in Siena of a fresco fragment by Ambrogio70. 
Representing the heads of a group of Poor Clares, this was said to have been                        
«removed on the demolition of the old refectory to the church» of San Francesco 
and «saved» by the Bursar of the Seminary occupying the former convent build-
ings, who had had it set into a wall in his room71. What Murray considered the 
«reasonable» offer of £40 had already been made by others and it was vital to act 
quickly. Four days later Burton had obtained the Trustees’ sanction to «go in» for 
the fragment. Negotiations proved long and tortuous, however, owing to com-
plex legal questions regarding ownership and the exportation of artworks and to 
the interest of four other prospective buyers, including Paolo Lombardi, whose 
photograph of the fragment (fig. 15) helped intensify competition and inflate  
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ideas of the work's value. The owner finally named a price three times the amount 
he had already been offered and refused to negotiate except with the photogra-
pher. It was thus through Murray (but at the original price of £40) and from Lom-
bardi that the Gallery purchased the fragment nearly a year later72. Burton was 
himself in Siena when the fresco was cut from the wall and prepared for transpor-
tation and was personally responsible, together with Murray, for reparative work 
on it there73.

The Gallery made no further purchases from or through Murray until Bur-
ton bought the signed Niccolò di Buonaccorso in 1881. Indeed, the intervening         
period apparently saw a temporary crisis in their relations. Financial necessity, 
personal bravura and, not least, the pursuit of practical forms of historical criticism 
all worked to intensify and complicate Murray’s art-dealing activities. He began 
to seek commissions to buy paintings in Italy, offering his services to Ruskin, and 
through him to the Liberal MP Lord Selbourne and to the University of Oxford, 
as well as to private collectors such as the textile trader Francis Cook (later made 
first Viscount of Monserrate)74. By patriotic and scholarly preference, however, it 
was to Burton and the National Gallery he looked for satisfaction, especially when 
it came to advancing knowledge of early Sienese painting. Yet in this particular 
regard the response on all fronts was disappointing. The purchase of a «pretty 
painting» by Neroccio di Bartolomeo Landi75 with money advanced by Ruskin for 
another purpose illustrates Murray’s motives and tactics, as well as his frustration. 
Offended by Ruskin’s adverse reaction to a Botticelli acquired for him in Florence76, 
he offered the Neroccio to Burton77. The Director’s reply intones a refrain sounded 
throughout their correspondence: «As to the Nat: Gallery, we are still senza argen-
to [...] So that I can do nothing at present»78. Whereas the connoisseur-dealer’s 
peculiar predicament is clearly stated in a subsequent letter: 

The Sienese picture I most regret buying & should not have bought except 
to form part of an historical series of examples of the Sienese school[.] As 
such it is of value as a tolerable specimen of a rare master – alone it is of not 
sufficient interest to attract a private buyer79. 

In a letter to Burton of August 1877 Murray had voiced his disappointment that 
«the powers of the Gallery [were] so restricted that so many fine pictures should 
be lost to the country» (meaning of course Britain, not Italy)80. And the fact that 
neither of the Lorenzetti paintings acquired in this period were actually displayed 
in the Gallery for several more years can only have added to his exasperation81. Yet 
the episode that seems to have transformed disappointment and frustration into 
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a degree of resentment concerned a then considerably more valuable painting 
of his by Palma il Vecchio82. In refusing its purchase in 1879-80 the Gallery failed 
to rescue Murray and his growing family from chronic «impecuniosity»83. There is 
no reference to the negotiations in his correspondence with Burton, nor in the 
minutes of the Trustees’ meetings, but they are alluded to in Murray’s letters to 
Dante Gabriel Rossetti. On 20 January 1880 he explained that the Gallery’s delay 
in coming to a decision over the Palma was due to «the peculiar temperament of 
its Director (between ourselves) who likes nothing that is not presented to him 
by a scoundrel at Milan who has already made a small fortune out of this infatua-
tion»84. Exactly three months later he reported that negotiations with the Gallery 
were at an end85. Possible accidents of preservation aside, it seems significant that 
only one letter between Murray and Burton should have survived for the period 
between 19 April 1880 and 12 December 188186. 

This somewhat tense situation may have encouraged Murray to cultivate 
the business and historiographical opportunities presented by a new set of  
acquaintances, associated with the imperial art museums of Berlin. Already by 
December 1879 he had come into contact with the wealthy industrialist and 
collector Adolf von Beckerath, a member of the board responsible for approv-
ing acquisitions87. And it was probably not long afterwards that he met the 
Gemäldegalerie’s Director, Julius Meyer, and his young assistant and later succes-
sor, Wilhelm Bode, who was to be one of Murray’s principal clients in the later 
1880s and early 1890s, after he moved his principal base of operations to Lon-
don and began buying intensively at Christie’s. It would be through Bode that the  
Gemäldegalerie eventually acquired Murray’s Palma for one thousand three hun-
dred pounds in 188488. 

So when in March 1881 Murray heard that a privately owned picture by Duccio 
was available for purchase in Siena, it was to Bode and Berlin he turned. The paint-
ing (fig. 16), he reported, was «said to be a part of the predella of his great altar-
piece in the Cathedral», the Maestà: the central Nativity scene, he pointed out, was 
flanked by two figures (the prophets Isaiah and Ezekiel) as in some of the other 
small panels traditionally associated with the dismembered Maestà then recently 
transferred from the cathedral sacristy to the Opera del Duomo. He presumed to 
interest Bode in the panel on account of its «being historical» and because Ste-
fano Bardini, the Florentine dealer with whom Bode and Meyer had already built 
a close business alliance, was «indisposed to spend much money on a Sienese  
picture[,] having little sympathy with the school». The price – eight thousand 
francs (around three hundred and twenty pounds) – was a «heavy» one, but in 
Murray’s view (and the comment is indicative of the still limited local and inter-
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national market for such paintings) would «no doubt come down considerably 
as soon as the “Opera [del Duomo]” [refused] decisively to purchase it»89. Three 
years later it did indeed prove possible for Murray to buy the panel, and proba-
bly for less than half the price previously mentioned. In April 1884 the mayor of 
Siena himself (ineffectually) notified the Maestro dell’Opera of its imminent sale 
to «Inglesi» for just over three thousand lire90, and rumour of its availability inde-
pendently reached Burton91. The panel had already been proposed to Bode, how-
ever, and in the autumn of 1884 it was sent to Berlin for inspection. The Prussian 
authorities seem to have been reluctant to deploy state funds in the purchase of 
a trecento Sienese panel92, and Bode himself may have advanced the purchase 
money while casting around for a donor93. 

In writing to congratulate Bode on the decision to retain this «absolutely  
authentic picture of the master» Murray hinted at the availability of four other 
panels, these only «attributed to» Duccio, however, and less well preserved than 
the Nativity. He referred to a group of paintings at Colle di Val d’Elsa thought 
originally to have formed part of the Maestà, of whose existence he had known 
for over ten years94. In 1886 he would purchase the group for the British banker 
and collector R.H. Benson95. Indeed, as is well known, a total of seven dispersed 
Maestà predella panels passed through Murray’s hands during this period. In add-
ition to the five already mentioned these included the Annunciation and Healing 
of the Man Born Blind (figs 17, 18) which were Burton’s next purchases from him 
and which the National Gallery thus acquired in 188396. Murray would later tell 
Bode, who seems to have seen the two paintings in London, that they had been 
«some time» in his possession and «came from Fagnano»97, presumably the Band-
ini Piccolomini villa of that name at Vagliagli (Castelnuovo Berardenga)98. James 
Stubblebine’s mistaken and somewhat naïve supposition that Murray acquired 
all seven predella panels at the same time and from a single «church or home 
whose identity is lost to us»99 and embroidered variants of this fantasy100 betray            
ignorance of the Maestà’s complex material history and misrepresent Murray’s 
achievement by failing to see it as part of a true process of discovery, driven by 
resolute and resourceful if naturally errant desire for knowledge. 

It should be emphasized that Murray’s handling of the seven predella pa- 
nels validates his firmly held belief in the role played by public collections in ad-
vancing knowledge of art. The purchase of the Nativity by Berlin led directly to the 
first historically informed attempt to reconstruct the Maestà, published by Edu-
ard Dobbert (figs 19, 20) in 1885101. Murray further enabled this reconstruction 
by providing Dobbert, at Bode’s request, with precise measurements of all the 
small panels in the Opera del Duomo traditionally associated with the Maestà102; 
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and, as Dobbert reports, himself suggested that the Berlin Nativity had originally 
formed part of the predella together with five other depictions of episodes from 
the infancy of Christ preserved in the Opera, whose correspondence in size, form 
and subject Dobbert meticulously documents103. However, whereas Dobbert’s re-
construction features a predella on the front and another on the rear depicting 
episodes from the ministry of Christ, Murray, it appears, was convinced that there 
had been only one, on the front of the altar-piece104. When agreeing to go to Siena 
and record the measurements he had asserted to Bode that these would not be 
«much use» to Dobbert «as [the Opera panels] certainly never belonged to the 
same altarpiece as the Passion», i.e. the main rear panel of the altarpiece105. And 
his and Dobbert’s difference of opinion on the matter is recorded in an 1885 sup-
plement to the Gemäldegalerie catalogue106. 

Murray also suggested to Dobbert that the (front) predella had begun with 
an Annunciation107. However, they both seem to have assumed this panel to be 
lost108. Neither made the connection with the Annunciation Murray had recently 
sold to the National Gallery, whose original engaged frame (as now at least is 
apparent) had shared the angled corners of those containing the Nativity and the 
other panels in the Opera which he and Dobbert concurred had formed part of 
the front predella109. Nor does either seem to have recognized the possibility that 
the representation of the Healing of the Man Born Blind which Dobbert inserted in 
his reconstruction of the rear predella was to be identified the other panel sold 
by Murray to Burton. 

It is not known precisely what Murray’s views were, or came to be, regarding 
the relation between the Maestà and the two London panels or, for that mat-
ter, the four from Colle di Val d’Elsa he bought for Benson. In 1889, several years                  
after Dobbert had published his article, Burton enquired of him what altarpiece 
he thought the two panels bought by the Gallery six years earlier had come out 
of:

There is a series in the Opera del Duomo at Siena which we once saw to-
gether [...] and which, if my treacherous memory does not deceive me, we 
found that exactly these two subjects were wanting – Or did they once 
form part of that same great Pala of the Duomo – of a predella perhaps? 
And whence comes the Nativity at Berlin?110

Unfortunately, Murray’s reply has not survived. Nor do immediately sub- 
sequent editions of the Gallery’s catalogue mention the Maestà in direct relation 
to the Annunciation and Healing of the Man Born Blind. The latter panel, but not 
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the former, was first stated in print to have «formed a part of the two predelle», 
together with the four panels from Colle di Val d’Elsa belonging to Benson, by 
Langton Douglas in 1902111. 

Murray was evidently dissatisfied by Dobbert’s reconstruction: in 1887 he com-
mented to Bode that it made «a very bad design»112. The move the previous year 
to secure the four Colle di Val d’Elsa panels (though for a private collector) and the 
commission given Paolo Lombardi only a few months before that for a complete 
photographic record of all works by Duccio then in the Duomo and in the gallery 
of the Opera113 seem to corroborate the intention, explicitly stated to Bode, to «go 
into this matter»114. However, Murray’s investigations, if undertaken, apparently 
failed to issue in a definitive statement, public or private.

The two panels by Duccio were the last trecento paintings that the National 
Gallery would acquire from or through Murray during Burton’s directorship. In-
deed, they were among the last trecento paintings – of any school – it would 
purchase for several decades115. 

The reasons for this hiatus in the Gallery’s deliberate acquisition of the ear-
liest of early Italian paintings are no doubt many and complex. Certainly, howe-
ver, they have to do with to do with increasing disregard or misapprehension of 
his-torical principles, such as characterized both the internal struggle for power 
and  «cultural authority» aggravated by the infamous Rosebery Minute of 1894116 
but also external criticism of Gallery policy. What is interesting here is the variou-
sly paradoxical invocation of its holdings of Sienese paintings by different players 
in this conflict, symptom perhaps of a novel but still compromised appreciation 
of the school. Thus, in a virulent unsigned critique of the Gallery’s acquisitions 
in the first four years of Edward Poynter’s directorship, Herbert Horne objected 
that no single picture «of first-rate importance» had been added to the collection, 
while «a large number of third and fourth-rate pictures [had] been bought for 
small sums»117. The latter included one by Barnaba da Modena (the last trecen-
to painting to be purchased by the Gallery until 1926), dismissed as of «entirely 
antiquarian» interest, «and that of a very limited kind», its place being «in some 
museum of archæology, not in the National Gallery.» In Horne’s view the Gallery 
was emphatically 

not a mere museum or repository, where pictorial documents of all kinds 
are to be preserved, irrespective of their artistic value, but it is a gallery of 
the great masters, to which artistic excellence alone, should procure the ri-
ght of admission118. 
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And yet, with specific regard to the school of Siena, Horne invokes the historio-
graphical principle of completeness or adequacy of representation. Reproaching 
Poynter for having «gone out of his way» to purchase an «unpleasing and unim-
portant», even dubious specimen of the work of Matteo di Giovanni119, «already 
represented in the National Gallery by two works, one of which, No. 1155, “The 
Assumption of the Virgin,” [purchased through Murray] is, perhaps, his master- 
piece,» Horne protests:

When the Sienese School is so poorly represented in our Gallery, when we 
possess no representative work by Ambrogio Lorenzetti, except the frag-
ment of a fresco, nothing by Vecchietta, Cecco di Giorgio [sic], Neroccio di 
Landi [sic], not to mention lesser masters, upon what grounds, we ask, does 
the Director justify the purchase of this picture?120

On the other hand, four years later, when Lord Lansdowne called him to              
order for having made a purchase without first consulting the entire board of   
Trustees and demanded a detailed accounting of his purchases of the previous 
five years121, Poynter would justify the acquistion of a painting attributed to Pac-
chiarotto as tending to make more complete the representation of the Sienese 
school of the fifteenth century, already, he boasted, something of a speciality of 
the national collection122. The fact that this purchase of a Sienese painting remai-
ned an almost isolated incident in Poynter’s directorship, complemented solely 
by that of a panel by Francesco di Giorgio the previous year and by no single work 
of the Sienese Trecento, suggests his complacency actually masked inveterate  
resistance or indifference to the school. This is all the more apparent in the light 
of later avowals of the inadequacy of the Gallery’s representation of the Sienese 
school. In 1925, for instance, in a booklet specifically devoted to this part of the 
collection (whose Preface by Langton Douglas was cited at the beginning of this 
essay), Edward Hutton would analyse the imperfect representation in the Gallery 
of «this delightful school of painting». Certainly, the collection included «some 
four pieces by the great master who founded the school, Duccio di Buoninsegna 
[NG 566, 1139, 1140, 1330]», as well as «a very notable picture by a very close fol-
lower (No. 565 [Master of the Albertini]), and seven pieces from an altar-piece by 
Ugolino [NG 1188, 1189, 3375, 3377, 3378, 3473, 3376], and a work by Segna [ NG 
567]». Yet there was no Simone Martini, no Lippo Memmi and no Barna, and only 
a tiny, exquisite picture by Pietro Lorenzetti [NG 1113] a much repainted Pietà 
[NG of a Sienese painting remained an almost isolated incident in Poynter’s di-
rectorship, complemented solely by that of a panel by Francesco di Giorgio the 
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previous 895], and some fragments of frescoes by Ambrogio Lorenzetti  [NG 1147 
(and probably also 3071 and 3072, attributed to the workshop of Pietro)] [...] The 
two small pictures by the rare master Niccolò di Buonaccorso [NG 1109, 3543 = 
Veneto-Byzantine, transferred to the British Museum] are a fortunate possession, 
but cannot make up for the absence of works by Bartolo di Fredi [...] represented 
by a mere fragment [NG 3896 = Giovanni di Nicola], Andrea di Bartolo [...] and 
Martino di Bartolommeo [...]

Nor, Hutton pointed out, was the Gallery «better off for Sienese fifteenth-cen-
tury art». There were no examples of the work of Sassetta, with the exception 
of a picture loaned by the Bowes Museum [Miracle of the Sacrament; but see NG 
1842], Giovanni di Paolo, Neroccio, Pietro di Domenico or Andrea di Niccolò: 

We possess, however, a work by Francesco di Giorgio [NG 1682] [...], and three 
works [NG 247, 1155, 1461] by Matteo di Giovanni [...] and two by Benvenuto di 
Giovanni [NG 909, 2482] [...]. But these are not enough to give us a real idea of 
Sienese fifteenth-century painting. 

«However,» Hutton concluded optimistically, «the realisation of our poverty in 
works of the Sienese school is the first step towards obtaining them»123. 

If the two Duccio panels were the last works of the Sienese Trecento purchased 
by the Gallery from or through Murray, they were not the last he proposed to 
it124. Yet in the mid-1880s the Gallery’s finances were constrained by negotiations 
with the government concerning purchases at the Duke of Marlborough’s sale. In 
September 1884 Burton informed Murray that the Gallery was forbidden to spend 
the balance of its grant after the government’s «generosity (?) in agreeing to buy 
the Blenheim Raphael & Van Dyck», adding gloomily, «I don't feel very much 
hope in remonstrances»125. Three months later he reported that «in anticipation 
of the Blenheim purchase» the Gallery’s subsidy would be suspended and it had 
even been «forbidden [...] to use the sum voted [...] for the current financial year,  
without express permission»126.

It is understandable then that at the start of 1885 Burton should not have  
seemed «disposed» – as Murray now advised Bode – to add a second unique si-
gned picture by a little known artist of the Sienese Trecento to the national col-
lection and thus complement the Niccolò di Buonaccorso, which Murray now 
regretted having sold the Gallery127. The picture in question was a double-sided 
reliquary panel adapted for processional use by Francesco di Vannuccio (fig. 21), 
still his only known signed work128. Bode had already expressed an interest in the 
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panel and had invited Murray to send it to Berlin for inspection in November of 
the previous year129. In December Murray had written that he

would not now care to sell it for less than 2000 francs & indeed would rather 
not part with it alone. I put it aside for the present as I hope to acquire one 
or two other rare early Sienese masters & I will make you an offer of them 
together130. 

His motive in proposing «a little collection of Sienese painters» to Berlin, he 
subsequently explained, was «that they would be more interesting historically & 
perhaps therefore more valuable to the gallery than isolated specimens». Such a 
collection, he specified, might include «a little picture by Pellegrino [di Mariano 
Rossini] da Siena» he had recently bought, «signed with his name [and] formerly 
in the Toscanelli colln». Though in itself of «no importance», this was nonetheless 
«a document»131. Since the Francesco di Vannuccio was «interesting» to Berlin, he 
was willing to withdraw it and not sell it without first informing Bode of his in-
tention to do so: he particularly wished it «to rest in a  public gallery»132. A third 
painting, by Naddo Ceccarelli (fig. 22) and also signed133, was one he had had his 
eye on for some time:

This picture like one mentioned by C[rowe] & C[avalcaselle] was bought in 
Paris. He is unknown in Italy but a few panels at Siena have been attribd to 
him for want of a better name[.] In reality the picture seen by Cavalcaselle 
& this are his only authentic works. The other picture has disappeared into 
private unknown hands. I found this picture & told Cavalcaselle who imme-
diately proposed to the owner to offer it to one of the Italian galleries al-
though he knew I much wished to have it. It is now no longer easy for me to 
purchase it as the owner wants 5000 francs [around two thousand pounds] 
for it which I suppose is about its full value & I can't afford to keep it at that 
price134.

Of these three paintings, only the Francesco di Vannuccio was acquired by 
Berlin – like the Duccio as a gift, this time by the textile manufacturer, collector 
and patron James Simon135. The Pellegrino di Mariano would remain in Murray’s 
possession until his death136. He would buy the Naddo Ceccarelli for two and a 
half thousand francs in 1889 on behalf of Charles Butler, a Director of the Royal 
Insurance Company with whom Murray had first begun to do business in 1883, 
when he had sold him a triptych by Ottaviano Nelli137 as well as further pictures 
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from the Toscanelli collection, including several more of the early Sienese school.
The Francesco di Vannuccio was one of the last early Sienese paintings to be 

acquired by a public collection from or through Murray. In 1889 he sold the Uffizi 
in Florence a thirteenth-century Virgin and Child of the school of Guido da Siena138. 
Then in 1892 Butler entrusted Murray with selling a portion of his collection, in-
cluding the Ceccarelli and other Sienese paintings, and a final chance was offered 
to both London and Berlin. It was the occasion for Murray to offer another «little 
collection» to Bode: «I wish you could find a home for the 3 little Sienese pictures, 
they only cost 210 guineas the 3. Ceccharelli, Neroccio139, Andrea di Niccolo140 – 
only one other picture by Ceccharelli is known»141. Neither Bode nor Burton took 
up the opportunity, and the Ceccarelli was sold, with Bode’s assistance, to the 
Prince of Liechtenstein. Burton’s reasons for rejecting this «curio» are of particular 
interest. Their reasonableness is vitiated by the old dilemma between historical 
understanding and aesthetic taste, which even at this late date compromised in-
stitutional attitudes to the school. Burton's dislike of Naddo's work even allows 
him to confuse the artist with the quattrocento painter and sculptor Neroccio: 

I don't know that it throws much light on the history of the Sienese school, 
or that it has much intrinsic interest. I admit that its frame is interesting142 & 
might be useful. But I think you must allow that whatever may be the due 
of Neroccio as a sculptor, this example of his painting is simply grotesque, 
& only shows the Sienese school at its worst. After all a general Gallery like 
ours must restrict itself to illustrative examples of the several schools. It can-
not afford to embrace everything which, in special collections like those of 
Siena, Padua, Verona & others, might be desirable, because native […]143

Eight Sienese paintings from Butler’s collection were bought by the Fitzwilliam 
Museum in 1893, the first of this school to enter the collection144. About twenty 
years later this missed opportunity was denounced in a document entitled Sketch 
of the Deficiencies in the National Gallery Collections, prepared by R.H. Benson, 
now a Trustee, for the use of his fellow board members in connection with the  
so-called Curzon Report145:

Among the Italian schools the Sienese masters, preeminent in the XIIIth and  
XIVth centuries with Duccio, Simone di Martino, Lippo Memmi, Barna, Ambrogio 
Lorenzetti, and others nameless, were almost extinguished by the plague of 1447 
[sic], and their works are rare. Only Duccio is represented and the rest hardly at all 
[…] The Fitzwilliam Museum at Cambridge stole a march on the National Gallery 
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when in 1891-2 they bought for under £1,000 the late Charles Butler's Sienese 
pictures – an opportunity that cannot recur.

They are, however, safe in this country.146

Benson does not mention Murray by name; nor (perhaps in emulation of «the 
aristocratic pattern of limited benefaction»147) does he give any indication that 
in this area especially his personal outstanding collection might, if made over to 
the nation, have filled many of the gaps he enumerated. His Sketch thus impli-
citly and negatively testifies to the still more important role which the Gallery 
might, through Murray, have had in the late nineteenth-century revaluation of 
the Sien-ese school. For Murray had advised and bought for Butler, Benson him-
self and of course Bode (who, Benson recalls, «sent someone to Lady Lindsay and 
got her Sassetta»148). And in the course of his career Murray transacted (at a cur-
rent count) around a hundred and ten paintings of the Sienese school, mainly 
of the Trecento and Quattrocento, including paintings by most of the artists the 
absence of whose works from the national collection was lamented in turn by 
Horne, Benson and Hutton149. Benson’s Sketch concludes by drawing the Trustees’ 
attention to a small Crucifixion by Pietro Lorenzetti (fig. 23), about to be sold at 
auction in Paris, of which he also submits a photograph. The sale in question was 
of paintings from Murray's collection150. The National Gallery did not take up Ben-
son’s suggestion and, after being bought in at Paris, the painting would join the 
transatlantic exodus which the Curzon report was intended to help staunch151.

	 This essay is a revised and expanded version of a paper on Charles Fairfax Murray and the 
Development of the National Gallery Collection given to the National Gallery History Re- 
search Group on 9 March 2000. Another version was presented at the conference Discove-
ring the Italian Trecento in the 19th Century, held at the National Gallery and the Wallace Col-
lection, London, 1-2 March 2013. My thanks to the following collections for permission to 
quote from unpublished material in their possession: Harry Ransom Center, The University 
of Texas at Austin; Staatliche Museen zu Berlin – Preussischer Kulturbesitz – Zentralarchiv; 
Archivio Storico Eredità Bardini, Soprintendenza Polo Regionale della Toscana, Florence; 
National Gallery Archive, London; Eberhard Karls Universität Tübingen, Universitätsbib-
liothek, Abteilung Handschriften. I also thank the Fitzwilliam Museum, Cambridge for per-
mission to reproduce images from Charles Fairfax Murray’s «Book of Sketches from Italian 
Paintings» (1402) and Professor Andrea Bacchi, Director of the Fondazione Zeri, Bologna 
for allowing me to reproduce the photograph of Pietro Lorenzetti’s St Sabinus before the 
Roman Governor of Tuscany.
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2000, pp. 142-164.

62	 C.F. Murray to R. Vischer, 25 June 1875, UT. The painting referred to is NG 910, a fresco re-
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80	 C.F. Murray to F.W. Burton, 19 (?) August 1877, NGA, NG 54/4.
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90	 L. Banchi to F. Rubini, 17 April 1884, Archivio Opera Metropolitana, Siena, MS, 1627 (ex 936: 
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94	 Temptation of Christ on the Mountain (Frick Collection, New York), Calling of the Apostles Peter 
and Andrew (National Gallery of Art, Washington), Raising of Lazarus (Kimbell Art Museum, 
Fort Worth) and Christ and the Samaritan Woman (Museo Thyssen-Bornemisza, Madrid). 
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d’Elsa in 1879 to which the four panels were lent by Marziale Dini together with his brother 
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105	 C.F. Murray to W. Bode, 2 January 1885, SMB-ZA, IV/NL Bode 3832.

106	 Nachtrag zum bechreibenden Verzeichniss der Gemälde, Berlin 1885, p. 13n, where Dobbert’s 
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107	 Dobbert, Duccio's Bild, p. 155. Dobbert does not state how Murray had arrived at this con-
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surface were «made up by later restoration» (private communication from Jill Dunkerton, 
9 June 2015).

110	 F.W. Burton to C.F. Murray, 10 July 1889, HRC, MS-0627. Murray’s diary for 1878 (FCP) records

	 a visit with Burton to the Opera and afterwards to the Duomo, followed by an afternoon at 
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the Burlington Fine Arts Club’s Illustrated Catalogue of Pictures of Siena, p. 44, but the text is 
altered to read «one at least of the panels in the National Gallery».

112	 C.F. Murray to W. Bode, 3 March 1887, SMB-ZA, IV/NL Bode 3832.

113	 Tucker, Charles Fairfax Murray, pp. 3-4, 20-21, 24.

114	 C.F. Murray to W. Bode, 3 March 1887, SMB-ZA, IV/NL Bode 3832.
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Cultural Authority 1890-1939, Toronto, Buffalo, and London 2010).
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113
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132	 C.F. Murray to W. Bode, 2 January 1885, SMB-ZA, IV/NL Bode 3832.
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862).
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nelli Collection; Luca di Tommè, Virgin and Child Enthroned (563), formerly in the Toscanelli 
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in the Rijksmuseum Kröller-Müller, Otterlo (inv. 607-17), sold to Richard von Kaufmann in 
1888 for £50; the Virgin and Child with St Nicholas and St Paul by Luca di Tommè in the Los 
Angeles County Museum of Art (K69); the Virgin and Child in the Metropolitan Museum, 
New York (1975.1.12), now attributed to Simone Martini, previously given to Lippo Vanni 
and Lippo Memmi; St Agnes by Taddeo di Bartolo, purchased from Murray by the Prince of 
Liechtenstein and recebtly put up for sale at Sotheby’s (7 July 2011, lot 186).

150	 Galerie Georges Petit, 15 June 1914.

151	 The painting was sold by Murray’s son Giovanni to Paul Sachs, probably in 1919, and pre-
sented by Sachs to the Fogg Art Museum, Cambridge, Massachussetts, in 1939 (1939.113). 
It was attributed to Ambrogio by F. Mason Perkins in 1920.
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Fig. 1: NICCOLÒ DI BUONACCORSO, Marriage of the Virgin, ca 1380, egg tempera on 
poplar, 50.9 x 33 cm, London, National Gallery (NG 1109).
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Fig. 2: C.F. MURRAY, Self-Portrait, 1872, watercolour, 10 x 14 cm, private collection.

Fig. 3: P. LOMBARDI after Duccio di Buoninsegna, Maestà (detail with Virgin and Child), 
1874, albumen print, Siena, Fondazione Monte dei Paschi.
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Fig. 4: C.F. MURRAY after Ambrogio Lorenzetti, Virgin and Child Enthroned with Angels and 
Saints (Siena, Pinacoteca Nazionale), 1873-75, pen over pencil, in bound sketchbook, 
private collection.
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Fig. 5: C.F. MURRAY after Bartolommeo Bulgarini, Assumption of the Virgin (Siena, 
Pinacoteca Nazionale), 1873-75, pen over pencil, in bound sketchbook, private collection.
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Fig. 6: C.F. MURRAY after Pietro Lorenzetti, Birth of the Virgin from the St Sabinus altarpiece 
(Siena, Museo dell’Opera del Duomo), 1873-75, pencil, pen, in «Book of Sketches from 
Italian Paintings», Cambridge, Fitzwilliam Museum (PDP 1402), f. 11 (© The Fitzwilliam 
Museum, Cambridge).
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Fig. 7: C.F. MURRAY after Pietro Lorenzetti, Birth of the Virgin from the St Sabinus altarpiece 
(Siena, Museo dell’Opera del Duomo) (detail with St Anne and an attendant), 1873-75, 
pencil, pen, watercolour, inscribed in pencil with autograph notes on colour, in «Book of 
Sketches from Italian Paintings», Cambridge, Fitzwilliam Museum (PDP 1402), f. 12 (© The 
Fitzwilliam Museum, Cambridge).
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Fig. 8: C.F. MURRAY after Pietro Lorenzetti, Birth of the Virgin from the St Sabinus altarpiece 
(Siena, Museo dell’Opera del Duomo) (detail with two standing attendants), 1873-
75, pencil, pen, wash, white, in «Book of Sketches from Italian Paintings», Fitzwilliam 
Museum, Cambridge (PDP 1402), f. 12 (© The Fitzwilliam Museum, Cambridge).



Paul Tucker

XLVII

Fig. 9: C.F. MURRAY after Pietro Lorenzetti, Birth of the Virgin from the St Sabinus altarpiece 
(Siena, Museo dell’Opera del Duomo) (detail with St Joachim and an attendant), 1873-75, 
pencil, pen, wash, white, inscribed in pencil with autograph notes on colour, in «Book of 
Sketches from Italian Paintings», Cambridge, Fitzwilliam Museum, (PDP 1402), f. 12 (© The 
Fitzwilliam Museum, Cambridge).
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Fig. 10: C.F. MURRAY after Pietro Lorenzetti, Virgin and Child Enthroned with Saints and 
Angels from the Carmine altarpiece (Siena, Pinacoteca Nazionale), 1873, pencil, pen, in 
«Book of Sketches from Italian Paintings», Cambridge, Fitzwilliam Museum (PDP 1402), f. 
22 (© The Fitzwilliam Museum, Cambridge).
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Figs. 11-13: F.W. BADER after C.F. Murray, Studies of Pietro Lorenzetti, the Carmine 
altarpiece (Siena, Pinacoteca Nazionale) and Birth of the Virgin (Siena, Museo dell’Opera 
del Duomo), wood engravings published as illustrations to R. Vischer, Sienesiche Studien 
III, «Zeitschrift für bildende Kunst», 10, 1875, pp. 136, 139, 141.
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Fig. 14: P. LORENZETTI, St Sabinus before the Roman Governor of Tuscany, 1333-52, egg 
tempera on poplar, London, National Gallery (NG 1113) (silver gelatin print on baryta 
paper, Fondazione Federico Zeri, Università di Bologna [inv. 20423]).

Fig. 15: P. LOMBARDI after Ambrogio Lorenzetti, Group of Four Poor Clares (1336-40?), ca 
1878, albumen print, Siena, Fondazione Monte dei Paschi.
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Fig. 16: DUCCIO DI BUONINSEGNA, Nativity with the Prophets Isaiah and Ezekiel, 1308-11, 
egg tempera on poplar, Washington, National Gallery of Art (1937.1.8).
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Figs. 17, 18: DUCCIO DI BUONINSEGNA, Annunciation; Healing of the Man Born Blind, 
1307/8-11, egg tempera on poplar, 44.5 x 45.8 cm; 45.1 x 46.7 cm, London, National 
Gallery (NG 1139, 1140).
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Figs. 19, 20: E. DOBBERT, Reconstruction of Duccio di Buoninsegna, Maestà, in Duccio's 
Bild «Die Geburt Christi» in der Königichen Gemälde-Galerie zu Berlin, «Jahrbuch der 
Preussischen Kunstsammlungen», 6, 1885, between pp. 156 and 157.

Fig. 21: FRANCESCO DI VANNUCCIO, Reliquary panel (front showing Crucifixion with Virgin, 
St John the Evangelist, St Augustine and Augustinian Donor), 1380, tempera on poplar, 
Berlin, Gemäldegalerie (Abb. 45-47) (photo by P. Tucker).
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Fig. 22: NADDO CECCARELLI, Christ as Man of Sorrows, 1347, tempera on panel, gold 
ground, 61 x 36 cm (without frame), 71 x 50 cm (with frame), Vaduz, Liechtenstein 
Collection (inv. no. 862).
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Fig. 23: AMBROGIO LORENZETTI, Crucifixion, ca 1348-49, tempera and gold on panel, with 
engaged frame, 61 x 29 cm, Cambridge, Massachusetts, Fogg Art Museum, (1939.113) 
(photo from catalogue of Charles Fairfax Murray sale, Galerie Georges Petit, Paris, 15 June 
1914 [as Pietro Lorenzetti]).


